Unive Star FACULTY OF SCIEN MASTER	ersity of vanger CE AND TECHNOLOGY C'S THESIS
Study programme/specialisation: Petroleum Technology / Drilling Engineering	Spring/ Automa semester, 20 2.1 . Open / Confidentia
Programme coordinator: Supervisor(s): Rasool Khosravania Title of master's thesis: Manufacturing Software Protot	n ype for applying fuzzy mization
MCDM in Well completion optin	
MCDM in Well completion optin	



Master Thesis Spring 2021

Manufacturing Software Prototype for applying fuzzy MCDM in Well completion optimization

By

Sarmad Riaz

for the

Department of Energy & Petroleum Technology

Abstract

Well completion is the important system to put the well into the production phase. This well completion engineering system is complex engineering which requires reservoir drilling, cementing of the well, installation of the completion systems according to the well specifications, and then finally initiate the production phase of the well. Due to the major role in the production, stability and life of the well, the oilfields economic benefits are much influenced by the well completion methodology selection. For well completion selection we have various models and specific methodologies, but it is proven that all the selection models are partial due to enhanced focus on quantitative and numerical indexes for example initial production etc. The expert's opinion has a major role for well completion selection as the selection process is very sophisticated and decision makers from various technological background provide useful information and knowledge which finally can help us to design an optimum well completion design.

In this thesis, I will develop a fuzzy TOPSIS decision making software prototype for well completion models selection. I will use linguistic variables instead of crisp values for prototype development due to the data inadequacy to solve the real world problems, and also human beings are not good in judgments and preferences where they have to estimate the exact numerical values for their decisions. So, the use of linguistic variables seems to be more realistic approach where I can rate and weight each criterion for completion models in terms of linguistic variables for assessment.

A case study is discussed in the Chapter 5 to select the well completion model for the Iris production field. Iris field is located on the North Continental Shelf and to the west of Morvin field. Iris reservoir properties indicates that it is HPHT well and it belongs to the Garn formation of Middle Jurassic age. A decision-making system, Fuzzy TOPSIS, developed in this thesis will be applied on the Iris production field to select the lower completion, middle completion, and upper completion.

Acknowledgements

I would like to special thanks to all the faculty members at the University of Stavanger, Norway who have contributed to enhance my knowledge in the field of petroleum technology. By their expertise and hands on experience in subject matter, I have become more astute professionally in my area of specialization.

The credit of appreciation goes to my supervisor, Rasool Khosravanian, whose in-depth research work in the area of decision-making processes have enabled me to gain a lot of understanding of complex decision making in the oil and gas industry. He helped me throughout the thesis writing and resolved my confusions for any problem I encountered. His encouragement and support were fuel for me to complete my thesis smoothly.

My fellow students, along with my supervisor, have contributed well to share knowledge and values. I have experienced an exponential learning curve for academic writing and advanced research work.

Finally, I would like to say special thanks to my parents and my wife for supporting me in all aspects of life throughout my master's degree in Norway.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	VI
LIST OF TABLES	VII
ABBREVATIONS	VIII
1 CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	9
1.1 BACKGROUND 1.2 OBJECTIVES OF RESEARCH	9 12
2 CHAPTER 2: THE REVIEW OF THE PREVIOUS LITERATURE	15
2.1 ANALYSIS OF DECISION-MAKING PROCEDURE 2.1.1 Overview of MCDM 2.1.2 Overview of MODM	15 15 18
2.1.3 Overview of MADM	
2.2 ROLE OF MCDM IN ENERGY SECTOR	
2.2.1 Development of Flow Chart for Well Completion Selection	
2.2.3 Application of MCDM for Completion Selection	25
3 CHAPTER 3: FUNDAMENTALS OF WELL COMPLETION AND METHODOLOGY REVIEW	
3.1 OVERVIEW OF WELL COMPLETION	
3.1.1 Well Completion Types for Vertical Wells	
3.1.2 Well Completion Types for Horizontal Well	32
4 CHAPTER 4: DEVELOPMENT OF FUZZY TOPSIS PROTOTYPE FOR WELL COMPLETION SELECTION	
4.1 OVERVIEW OF FUZZY TOPSIS CHEN'S METHOD	36
4.1.1 Fuzzy Set Definition and Mathematical Equations	
4.1.2 Fuzzy TOPSIS: Development of Proposed Methodology in Decision Making	39
4.1.3 Synopsis of Fuzzy TOPSIS Algorithm	44
4.2 FUZZY TOPSIS ALGORITHM NUMERICAL EXAMPLE	45
5 CHAPTER 5: CASE STUDY FOR WELL COMPLETION MODEL SELECTION FOR IRIS PRODU WELL BY FUZZY TOPSIS ALGORITHM	JCTION 52
5.1 CRITERIA SELECTION FOR THE IRIS PRODUCTION WELL	53
5.1.1 Lower Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS	
5.1.2 Middle Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS	
5.1.3 Upper Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS	62
5.2 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS	65
5.3 DISCUSSION AND SUMMARY	67
BIBLIOGRAPHY	69

List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1 THE INTERACTION MAP OF WELL COMPLETION ENGINEERS (JONATHAN, 2009)	9
FIGURE 1.2 RISK ASSESSMENT	0
FIGURE 1.3 VERTICAL AND HORIZONTAL WELL (ENERGY EDUCATION)1	1
FIGURE 2.1 MCDM FLOWCHART [23]17	7
FIGURE 2.1 ANALYTICAL HIERARCHY PROCESS	2
FIGURE 3.1 (A) INITIAL OPEN HOLE COMPLETION (B) COMPOUND OPEN HOLE COMPLETION	9
FIGURE 3.3 COMPLETE OPEN HOLE COMPLETION	9
FIGURE 3.4 PERFORATED CASED HOLE WELL COMPLETION	0
FIGURE 3.5 SLOTTED LINER COMPLETION	1
FIGURE 3.6 GRAVEL PACK COMPLETION-OPEN HOLE	2
FIGURE 3.7 EXPANDABLE TUBULAR WELL COMPLETION	3
FIGURE 3.8 EXTERNAL CASING PACK COMPLETION	4
FIGURE 3.9 HORIZONTAL WELLS OPEN HOLE COMPLETION	4
FIGURE 3.10 HORIZONTAL WELL SLOTTED LINER COMPLETION	5
FIGURE 4.1 FUZZY NUMBER [59]	7
FIGURE 4.2 ALPHA CUT OF FUZZY NUMBER [59]	8
FIGURE 4.3 TRIANGULAR FUZZY NUMBER [59]	8
FIGURE 4.4 FLOW CHART OF FUZZY TOPSIS	0
FIGURE 5.1 IRIS FIELD WELL LOCATION AND WELL TRAJECTORY[61]52	2
FIGURE 5.2 FLOW CHART FOR CRITERIA AND ALTERNATIVE FOR IRIS PRODUCTION FIELD	5
FIGURE 5.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS OF A CASE STUDY	6

List of Tables

TABLE 4.1 IMPORTANCE WEIGHT OF CRITERIA BY LINGUISTIC VARIABLES 41
TABLE 4.2 ALTERNATIVE RATING BY LINGUISTIC VARIABLE 41
TABLE 4.3 THE IMPORTANCE WEIGHT OF CRITERIA BY EXPERTS 46
TABLE 4.4 INSERT THE NUMBER OF EXPERTS IN FUZZY TOPSIS SOFTWARE 46
TABLE 4.5 INSERT THE NUMBER OF CRITERIA
TABLE 4.5 INSERT THE NUMBER OF ALTERNATIVES 47
TABLE 4.6 TYPE OF CRITERIA 47
TABLE 4.7 ASSIGNING WEIGHT TO EACH CRITERION
TABLE 4.8 ALTERNATIVE SHOWING NUMBER OF EXPERTS IN THEIR FAVOR W.R.T TO LINGUISTIC VARIABLES48
TABLE 4.9 DEFINING FPIS AND FNIS INPUTS FOR CRITERIA 49
TABLE 4.10 DISTANCE CALCULATION OF ALTERNATIVES FROM FPIS AND FNIS
TABLE 4.11 RANKING ORDER OF ALTERNATIVES 51
TABLE 5.1 IRIS PRODUCTION WELL CRITERIA WEIGHT IMPORTANCE 56
TABLE 5.2 RATING OF ALTERNATIVE FOR LOWER COMPLETION BY EXPERTS 58
TABLE 5.3 RANKING ORDER OF ALTERNATIVES FOR LOWER COMPLETION 59
TABLE 5.4 RATING OF ALTERNATIVES FOR MIDDLE COMPLETION
TABLE 5.5 RANKING ORDER OF ALTERNATIVES 61
TABLE 5.6 RATINGS OF TUBING ALTERNATIVE FOR UPPER COMPLETION 62
TABLE 5.7 RANKING ORDER OF ALTERNATIVES 63
TABLE 5.8 RATING OF PACKER ALTERNATIVES FOR UPPER COMPLETION 64
TABLE 5.9 RANKING ORDER OF ALTERNATIVE 64

Abbrevations

MCDM	Multi-criteria decision making
TOPSIS	Technique for order of preference by similarity to ideal solution
ELECTRE	Elimination and choice expressing the reality
АНР	Analytic hierarchy process
MODM	Multiple objective decision making
FPIS	Fuzzy positive ideal solution
FNIS	Fuzzy negative ideal solution
MOPA	Multi Objective Programming Approach
PROMETHEE	Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment
ECP	External Casing Packer
HSE	Health, safety, and environment
EPI	Environment Protection Index
SODM	Single-Objective Decision-Making
ILCBA	Integrated lower completion barrier assembly

1 Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

The interface developed between the reservoir and the surface production facilities are most commonly known as completions[1]. After the well has been drilled successfully, the completion designer's make sure to convert it into the safe and efficient production conduit as well as injection conduit for well intervention activities. It is an important to consider the geological properties of the field along with the technical requirements for extraction of the reservoir fluids to build the effectual connection from wellhead to the reservoir.

Although the completion engineers are not the only important decision maker on the oil and gas fields, but it is certain that completion team has to interact with people from wide range of disciplines e.g. drilling engineers, geologist, Petro-physicists, service sector team, management, and commercial analysts etc. In Fig 1.1 (Jonathan, 2009), it can be observed that how necessary it is for completion designer to work in teams and handle the critical interactions for their operations to make successful for optimum designs.



Figure 1.1 The interaction map of well completion engineers (Jonathan, 2009)

The well completion method selection is very critical in terms of safety, environment, and business point of view. The well's productivity, life, and stability are directly influenced by the well completion design selection which can have a huge impact both on the economic value of the oil field and the safety of people and environment. In well completion designs the safety is certainly critical. In past we have cases where poor completion designs have led to the loss of human life as well as the sharp decrease in the production[1]. From energy industries perspective these are the huge losses. The most important point to consider during risk assessment is that installation procedures should not be the only assessments, but we need to highlight any risks included in the proposed completion models which can have direct impact on business, safety, and environment. The impact and likelihood of each risk can be categorized as shown in the Fig 1.2 (Jonathan, 2019).



Figure 1.2 Risk Assessment

In well completion designs there are trade-offs of benefits. For example some designs have lower costs involved, others are more beneficial in productivity or leads to low risk[2]. Multi criteria decision making (MCDM) is very useful technique to deal such situations where it is tough competition to choose and analyze the various criterions for completion modelling and to qualitatively analysis of decision makers conflicts[3].

In Fig 1.3 (Energy Education), the two major types of wells are shown. One of them is the vertical well and the other is horizontal well. The different kind of wells are drilled according to the reservoir characteristics. The one of the major reasons to drill a well horizontally is to increase the contact area with reservoir to get more production of the underground hydrocarbons, to recover the heavy and residual oil[4]. For naturally fractured reservoirs the horizontal wells are preferred. In recent years, the technological development in completion methodologies has huge benefits with useful outcome for both type of wells; horizontal and vertical. These recent developments have proven results to protect the strata of reservoir, enhancement in recovery ratio and overall production of the well. The following are the five commonly used completions:

- Open hole completion
- Perforated completion

- Slotted liner completion
- Gravel pack completion
- EPC completion

The above-mentioned basic completions techniques can be coupled together to achieve the desired results because in complex reservoir geology it is very challenging to complete the tasks by using only single type of well completion. In Gulf of Mexico in 1998 the Baker Oil Tools company had to extract heavy oil from the shallower strata. After careful observation and thorough decision making process, they decided to combine open hole completion with gravel pack completion to successfully finish the large open-hole displacement well[5]. This technique has also been applied by Texaco company. They developed the procedures and strategies after running the physical simulations of wellbores and obtained data from these simulations[6]. The Texaco company was able to mitigate the sanding problems in horizontal wells with abnormal length. This kind of wells actually causes serious issues for gravel packing. In one more case study at the Gulf of Mexico, the Schlumberger and Baker-Hughes experienced the high failure rates in screened completions for horizontal wells[7]. The service and operator companies tried to narrow down the severity of the problem, its major causes, and achievable solutions. The case study proved that the combination of gravel pack and wire-wrapped completions made it possible for successful completion of the series of wells after proposed solution[7].



Figure 1.3 Vertical and Horizontal Well (Energy Education)

For many years many new technologies have been evolved and implemented in the oil and gas industry for larger fields to maintain or increase the overall profitability. Intelligent well completion is new and progressive technology[8]. The main advantage of intelligent well completion is that it can send real time downhole information to the surface[9]. It is a system of permanent downhole sensors and the downhole flow valves which can be controlled remotely[9]. By this system we can get real-time information of subsurface parameters like pressure variations and temperature. Production management is also possible in real-time in this completion system[9]. Despite of the various advantages of the intelligent well completion it can present some challenges compared to the conventional completion techniques. It is understandable that it is complex technology and requires in-depth pre planning before applying. The most common challenges which has been reported are the downhole barriers[10], issues with tubing hanger, complex and expensive technology[11], data handling and management etc.

Although the new technology and skills have overcome various challenges in well completions procedures, but it has also made oil and gas industry to be less flexible and most of the time they focus more on proficiency. This the primary reason that most of the well's completion models are using perforated completion. The lack of adoptability then directly affects the economics due to decrease in recovery ratio and well productivity. In this scenario, the multi criteria decision making (MCDM) systems should be implemented to well completion model selections for more adoptive approach.

1.2 Objectives of Research

The only path available for successful extraction of reservoir fluids and then the plug and abandonment of the wells is through the wellbore. In this regard, the well completion plays a vital role in well integrity through-out the life cycle of the well. In oil and gas industry, the well completion is a very sensitive decision-making process because any kind of problems can halt the production activities and can cost immensely. Wellbore stakeholders understand that in post-drilling activities the feasible design of well completion with high operational magnitude is directly correlated to the overall performance, technical management, and revenue of the oil and gas fields. Most well completion model design approaches for designing and implementation rely heavily on the numerical indexes like the substantial operational cost, initial production values. This numerical approach for well completion is too ideal and expert opinion in the model

selection is ignored. Hence, the well completion selection process needs to be refined where the comprehensive approach is required to deal with this complex selection process.

Due to a lot of application of crude oil in downstream industry and everyday use of these products in common life it is imperative to consider those designs, operations and equipment's which are useful to boost the productiveness and minify the cost of the processes in the upstream sector. Decision making processes needs to be taken under consideration and implemented when selecting the tools, equipment's, designs and installation procedure for well completion models. This decision-making process can immensely influence the costs, well productivity, well intervention time and costs related to well maintenance. Due to the involvement of complex technicalities and people from various background in well completion selection process the decision-making systems helps to find out the most suitable alternatives for well completion models which can be beneficial for both the upstream and downstream industry.

The primary objective of this research is to build a multi-criteria decision-making approach for the well completion selection. In MCDM approach we can consider the range of criteria and then we evaluate all the alternatives available for well completions modelling and selection. This approach considers all the preferences, assumptions, and useful data for making consistent and systematic decisions. In this research, the Fuzzy TOPSIS (Techniques for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution) approach is applied because this decision-making technique is very precise, and the results of outcome are reliable to implement practically. The chosen alternatives in this approach are backed by expert's technical knowledge and the MCDM approach makes it possible to rank all the alternatives in a systematic way. Another positive aspect of this decision-making approach is that the ranking of the criteria for well completion models is composed of expert's opinion from wide range of discipline e.g. geologist, economist, drilling engineer, production engineer, reservoir engineer, environmentalists etc.

The summary of the main contribution in this thesis work is combined as follow:

• The review of well completion technologies in previous literature. The optimization of well completion in that literature is reviewed and the comparison of their advantages and setbacks have been useful for building the research foundation for well completion optimization.

- The use of MCDM techniques in oil and gas industry have been discussed in this research work to thoroughly understand the practical application of decision-making process in industry. It will help to further eliminate the shortcomings in decision making process.
- Comparison of the available MCDM techniques have provided the useful information to understand which techniques is more feasible during well completion selection process under certain conditions. Their advantages and disadvantages are also discussed.
- Development of the Fuzzy TOPSIS software prototype for well completion selection. The various criteria's and alternatives have been inserted in the prototype to provide the comprehensive selection from various methodologies, tools, techniques, and installation process.
- The software is very flexible and can fulfill the requirements of specific company's needs. The linguistic variables are used to weight each criteria and alternative as the crisp numbers are very challenging for human beings to handle during decision making process.
- In Fuzzy TOPSIS, the alternatives are ranked based on the decision maker's input. All decision makers input weight each criterion and each alternative are given decision maker linguistic variable. The alternatives are ranked based on the expert's opinion and the alternative with higher order preference is considered more closer to the ideal solution.

2 Chapter 2: The Review of the Previous Literature

2.1 Analysis of Decision-Making Procedure

Decisions are compulsory ingredients in all types of organizations and industries. The proper understanding of the organization values and its goals are important factors to be considered by decision makers to achieve the set goals as decision making process is very systematic and it's the duty of the decision maker to analyze all the available alternatives with thorough understanding. The decision maker can be anyone in the organization from the managing director of a company, project leader, engineer to the economic analysts, and their level of understanding decision making process may vary from each other[12]. The decision making process involves people from various discipline and the cost of malfunctions in decisions could be very expensive as it can affect all the procedural instruments[12].

We classify the decisions problems in three level which includes structured problems, semistructured problems and third one is unstructured problems[12]. Ill structured problems are the last two one, semi-structured and unstructured, and they cannot be solved using standard mathematical models and solutions. The classical mathematical models used to solve the decision problems which are well structured[13]. To resolve the ill-structured problems for decision making the involvement of fuzzy set theory helps to sort out the ambiguousness in the data and includes human judgement with more justifiable able and systematic approach. The well completion decision making process is usually semi-structured problem that's why it is considered challenging to select optimized well completions due to the nature of the problem, involvement of human judgement and integration of mathematical models.

2.1.1 Overview of MCDM

In most of the decisions the criteria to be considered are more than one which makes it very demanding and challenging to make decisions in complex situations. Although to make decision is every common from individual level to large organization level but the systematic approach to deal with problems and then make suitable decision involves various steps for clear outcomes. As we discussed earlier most of the problems, we face are semi-structured and they require expert's

judgement and mathematical modelling, so the Multi-Criteria Decision Making (MCDM) is one of the approaches which provides operational models in decision making. It aids both qualitative and quantitative handling of the criteria, manages the conflicts among the criteria involved in a problem[14]. This MCDM method, additionally, also provides a way to assess the trade-off among the criteria so to prioritize the given criteria with the best possible outcome. The Fig 2.1 shows the general procedure involved in MCDM. In 1896, Pareto introduced the optimality-based concept which is the root cause of this MCDM process[15]. After this initial idea, the other scientist contributed in Preto work and brought out the concept of efficient-point[16] and optimization of the vectors in mid-20th century[17]. Only after the efforts and research work of Charnes and Cooper in object-programming the MCDM became the normative methodology in scientific decision making[18]. Overall, this approach can be useful in its application for the better choice and ranking of alternatives during the decision making in many fields.

The major attributes of the MCDM related problems are mentioned below[19]:

- It is very hard to compare the criteria as in MCDM there is no standard measure of unit for comparison of criteria and alternatives.
- Although the optimization is the major concern in decision making, but it is extremely challenging to optimize all the objectives involved in MCDM problem.
- It is necessary to contemplate both qualitative and quantitative criteria.

Due to the above-mentioned characteristics of the multi-criteria decisions we have two methods called Multi-Objective Decision Making (MODM) and the Multi-Attribute Decision Making (MADM). In these methods we optimize the set of objectives and alternatives against the suitable constraints and criteria[20].

The solution methods of MCDM are following[21]:

- Unique Synthesis: The expert's opinion is gathered and inserted into a function for optimizing it. Example of this method are Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) and TOPSIS.
- Outranking Synthesis: In this method, decision maker opinions or preferences are shown in outranking relationship. Elimination and Choice Expressing Reality (ELECTRE) and

Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment Evaluation (PROMETHEE) fall in this category.

• Interactive Local Judgement: Decision maker preferences can be given more data due to flexibility of this method in calculation steps[22].



Figure 2.1 MCDM Flowchart [23]

2.1.2 Overview of MODM

Multi-objective Decision Making system is applied in situation where there are many possible outcomes for each objective. In MODM, unlike SODM, the relationship between the objective is not so simple but it is based on complex relationship which leads to rank the decision maker preferences[24]. In reality, we cannot make decision based on single-objective decision-making system as the goals of big organization involves multi-level process to achieve their objective so in that case MODM system comes in handy to deal complex decision-making process.

The various models of MODM used by experts are discussed below.

I. Technique for Order of Preference to by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS)

In 1981, the researcher Hwang and Yoon worked on to solve the multi-criteria problems and come up with this technique called TOPSIS[25]. This is very practical method for solving problems for decision making point of view. In this technique the geometric distance of alternative is calculated. Each decision maker give weightage to individual alternative, then TOPSIS system calculate the geometric distance of each alternative with respect to the ideal solution[26]. There are two types of ideal solution in TOPSIS, one is knowns as positive ideal solution (PIS) and the other is negative ideal solution (NIS). The alternative closest to the positive ideal solution is ranked higher and the priority is given to this alternative for final decision-making process. TOPSIS is very practical approach to deal real-life problems.

Benefits of TOPSIS[27]:

- The process of computation is uncomplicated.
- Data handling is simple and in TOPSIS it is straightforward to utilize the original data.
- In TOPSIS the final choice is logical based on human judgements.
- Sample size is not an issue in this technique.
- Polyhedron shows the performance of all alternatives in visual form.

Drawbacks of TOPSIS:

- Complication of ranking reversal in case of adding new alternatives in the existing system.
- Normalized matrix is required in TOPSIS, but for complex matrix it is not an easy task to get the PIS and NIS values for each alternative.
- Symmetrical alternative on the ideal solution line are impossible to compare.
- II. Elimination and Choice Expressing the Reality (ELECTRE)

Benayoun, Roy and Sussman put forward the very first proposal of ELECTRE methodology. There are three main versions of this technique to handle the variety of problems: sorting problematic, ranking problematic, and choice problematic. In choice problematic ELECTRE, the good alternatives are included in the set for decision makers to choose among them. The models where the ranking of alternative is asked uses the ranking problematic. Pre-defined categories are made for alternatives in sorting problematic. ELECTRE technique is performed in two main steps, where the first step, called building outranking relation, compares the whole set of alternatives in depth and the second step, known as exploitation procedure, explains the outcomes of the building outranking relation[28].

Benefits of ELECTRE:

- Elimination of less important alternatives can save time.
- There is no use of abstract scales in outranking model[29].
- Useful technique to apply for decision making when the data contains liars[30].

Drawbacks of ELECTRE:

- Useless evaluation of criteria even though it has no weightage[31].
- Requires a lot of information and data to initiate the process.
- III. Multi-objective Programming Approach:

A. Charnes and W.W. Cooper introduced this MOPA approach in 1957[32]. In MOPA, the values are assigned to the objective function, and under some constraints the solution is

found which is nearest to the target value. To handle deviation of the objectives, the new variable, deviation variable, is used. In short, MOPA converts the multi-objective problems into single objective[9].

Benefits of MOPA:

- The optimization of individual objectives is possible when other objectives are being constrained[9].
- Priority factor shows the worth of each objective.
- Swap of the constraints is possible in MOPA e.g. from hard to soft constraints.

Drawbacks of MOPA[9]:

- Not suitable for problems where the objectives and constraints are non-linear functions.
- Functions of objectives and constraints are not able fit in function always due to fuzzification.

IV. Entropy Method

The concept of entropy was taken from thermodynamics for MODM process in 1948 by Shannon[33]. In systems which are higher in disorder shows that they have high values of entropy[34]. In decision making process the indexes are provided with relevant information. If the given index has more information, it means there less chances of uncertainty and it indicates this index have lower entropy[9]. This index then has higher weightage in the system as compared to those having higher values of entropy. Due to much rely on information and data for calculation this method is very less influenced by human judgements so there are rare chances of human error[9].

Benefits of Entropy:

- For weighting each criterion in the system, it remains unbiased[35].
- Conflicts in the objective criteria are easily handled by this method[35].
- Assessment of the efficiency, cost or benefit is possible quantitatively[35].
- Discrimination of criteria in this system is represented[9].

Drawbacks of Entropy:

- Because the expert judgement is not much involved, so the distortion of criteria weight is an issue of entropy method[9].
- Lack of mutual relationship among criteria.
- Decision matrix consist of large quantity of alternatives[36].
- V. Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)

In 1970s, Thomas Saaty gave the concept of AHP for solving the decision problems which were irreversible in nature and complex at the same time[9]. The working mechanism of AHP is to transform the subjective assessment of relative importance to overall weight and score[37]. The comparison matrix is one of the useful aspects of AHP[9]. But there are chances of inconsistency in AHP.

Benefits of AHP:

- Complex expert system is not required in AHP[38].
- Both kind of problems can be solved by AHP; qualitative and quantitative.
- Inconsistencies are manageable, so it is well flexible system[39].
- AHP makes it easier to perform pairwise comparison because of criteria hierarchy[40].
- Group decision making based on consensus is encouraged. For that the geometric mean is calculated[41].

Drawbacks of AHP[9]:

- Number of evaluations may increase for complex scenarios.
- 1 to 9 scale sometimes hard to differentiate.
- In AHP we may face the issues of rank reversal.
- Elements dependency to each other can be problematic in real-world problems.

2.1.3 Overview of MADM

Multi-attribute decision making theory was first used by Churchman et al. in 1957 where it was applied on a set of problems by using the method of additive weight[42]. In this technique, the decision makers goal is to select the most suited alternatives from a given set of alternatives. Evaluation process of the alternative is carried out through multiple attributes. This method, MADM, has a wide range of application in industries like medical, engineering, construction, and management[42].

I. Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP)

Except the hierarchical structure of AHP in MADM, it works the same way as it does in MODM method. Fig 2.2 is shown below.



Figure 2.1 Analytical Hierarchy Process

II. Preference Ranking Organization Method for Enrichment (PROMETHEE)

In 1982, Brans presented the PROMETHEE, the further developments in it, 1985, were the contribution of Vincke and Brans[43]. Two methods are usually performed for the ranking of alternatives by PROMETHEE 1 and PROMETHEE 2[44]. The former method is put in

place for alternatives where partial ranking is involved, and the latter is for complete ranking of the alternatives[44].

Benefits of PROMETHEE[9]:

- Reversal ranking is not an issue in PROMETHEE.
- It is much stable as compared to ELECTRE.
- Fuzzy information and uncertainty are possible to handle.
- Nondimensionalize and normalize indexes are not part of this method.

Drawbacks of PROMTHEE[9]:

- Weight determination is huge issue in PROMTHEE which can cause problems for decision makers.
- Structural analysis lacks in efficiency.
- Sometimes reversal ranking could be a complication in the process.

III. Grey Relational Analysis

Deng brought up the idea of GRA[45], which is a coherent method to solve the decision issues where we have insufficient and unknown data. The way of categorization of information in GRA is so simple, as it categorizes the accurate information as white, and black is reserved for information which is incomplete. Though the real problems are not differentiated completely in terms of black and white category, while GRA system uses the grey information to manage the situation in these two extremes[46]. A continuum is created from black through grey to white[46]. Finally, depending upon the position of each situation on continuum, it proposes various solutions. The ideal solution for given problem will lie on the white continuum.

Benefits of GRA[9]:

- Based on the original data and requires simple calculations.
- This system is able to perform well in case of situations where necessary data is hard to get.

Drawbacks of GRA[9]:

- Index optimal values are challenging to get.
- Alternative doesn't present any kind of relationship.

2.2 Role of MCDM in Energy Sector

In oil and gas industry, well completion is the backbone of the three phases drilling, production, and abandonment. Proper well completion process is carried out through the well completion engineering. Well completion engineers have to interact with management and other experts from different fields to design and install the proper well completion for a given well. Due to its role in oil and gas industry, it has become norm to apply decision making models for optimized selection of the well completion methods.

2.2.1 Decision Making Based on Experience and Knowledge

According to Johnston et al (2008)[47], the well completion is a multifaceted problem which needs the collaborative approach of people from various backgrounds. The sharing of knowledge and experience is key for good selection of well completion. The authors of this study suggested the people from these disciplines, geology, economy, drilling, reservoir, petrophysics, contribute majorly for good well completion design for specific formation[9].

Optimum selection of gas reservoir by Jia et al. (2016)[48] was actually based on experience. They built this well completion selection model for particular gas reservoir. The basic understanding of the formation was taken into consideration and also the geological model of the gas reservoir was analyzed. The only shortcoming in this methodology was the lack of weighting of some important individual factors which could have played a major role for more well-established design of well completion[9]. Only experience based decision-making solutions are not much reliable due to the lack of systemization in the process.

Well completion method selection based on set criteria was performed by Idiodemise et al. in 2007[49]. The authors utilized their criteria for completions selection, junction selection or other activities like sand control devices selection[9]. It is simple way for method selection as the influencing criteria have already been proposed and set by researcher for making decision. Some critical factors can cause the conflicts in method selection. Use of gravel pack devices in downhole

requires several factors to be considered. Some factors may go in favor of using the gravel packing, while other factors can be in conflict for using such devices. So, it has become obvious that how important is it to assign weighting to each factor to reduce the contradiction among various factors for better method selection.

2.2.2 Development of Flow Chart for Well Completion Selection

It is understood that systematic methodologies are important in oil and gas industry for selection or decision-making process. Such systematic way of selection procedures was published by Ouyang et al. (2006) by introducing the concept of flow chart [50]. They constructed that flow chat so they can finally come out with a cost-efficient well completion method. Their primary focus was to select completion method which was not only cost-effective but also it has good output for production and sand control in wells. In this study, the Ouyang et al. [50] suggested that some of the well completions costs are tangible, while other completion costs are intangible. They made two separate groups for tangible and intangible completion costs. The various factors and items were also included in these categories. But this method is too subjective and general, it cannot be considered to apply in real life situation.

Similarly, in 2003, Sinha et al. [51] also assembled a flow chart after thorough study of different field environments. Case studies from those oil fields were used to find some commonalities. The studies showed that the reservoir characteristics and well architecture relationship have given same characteristics and attributes among these fields. For the flow chart development, the whole well architecture was divided into three categories: completion tools, formation completion, well trajectory. The common attributes of the fields from case studies were put into the flow chart so to select the completion tools, well trajectory, and formation completion. This method sounds more qualitative and have more input of expert's experience, but it cannot be considered accurate enough.

2.2.3 Application of MCDM for Completion Selection

Using flow chart method for optimized selection purpose is not enough and it has limitation, also the well completion selection process is multi-attribute and multi-objective task so some authors applied the MCDM approach for well completion selection to resolve the issues in flow chart. Studies of Morooka et al. (2002) [52] established the method for selecting the floating production system. The concept of multi-attribute and Utility Function theory was applied in their model selection. The range of factors were examined and applied in their study for best possible selection of floating system. Those factors were related to the risk assessment, technical domain, cost/benefit and environmental. The downside observed in their study was that it is inconvenient for theory of utility function to establish a model for all the factors in a given problem. So qualitative is only remaining approach for selecting some factors, which is always a setback in decision problems.

Another proposal [53] was given to determine the suitable options for lifting the gas wells by Rehman et al. (2002). Optimized model selection to lift the well was relied on distant based. Various simulation models integrated, like economic analysis and production of well, together to select the optimized option. The optimum case is defined before measuring the distance between the optimum case and given alternatives. The mathematical model then calculates the distance among alternative and optimum case, and the output value of this model shows which option is more feasible to consider for lifting the gas well. Smaller value indicates the best alternative to select.

Grey MADM, TOPSIS, and Fuzzy synthesis [54] systems were combined together to develop a decision-making model. This study was conducted to choose the well completion model for coalbed methane formation. In this technique the selection process is not too subjective, included both economic and production aspect of field, and the weights of alternatives were considered for well completion process.

3 Chapter 3: Fundamentals of Well Completion and Methodology Review

In this chapter the well completion methods are discussed with respect to specific conditions of the formation. Well completion methods understanding is an important task to set the criteria and define various alternatives when making decision. Individual well completion methods are highlighted in terms of its strengths and weakness and when they are applicable is also discussed in the following section.

3.1 Overview of Well Completion

In drilling process the well completion is an important phase after drilling has been completed to the reservoir zone. The bottom hole assembly is connected to the reservoir zone. The BHA is part of well completion design process which establish a conduit for extracting hydrocarbons. So once drilling phase is done then well completions are installed in the wellbore which initiates the production phase of oil and gas. Well productivity is directly correlated with economic output of an oil/gas field and both these factors majorly rely on the compatible selection of well completion for a given formation.

It is proven facts that variation in completion design can alter the reservoir recovery factor, drainage area, production capacity of reservoir fluids and costs of all post-drilling activities[9]. By keeping in mind all these variable factors, a better approach for well completion design helps to mitigate the risk of loss of hydrocarbons in mistakenly induced fractures in wellbore and formation, also it enhances the probability of average production of all well in the developed field. The overall economic benefits and finally abandonment activities can have a high success rate by proper and systematic approach in well completion design and selection.

Well completion techniques have been improved a lot with the development of technology and research. Conventional well completions may not be of more interest due to increased depth of reservoirs, complex issues being faced during production life of the well, and high demands of economic benefits from energy sector. Two major types of wells, vertical and horizontal, demands

different kind of completion to fulfill their working conditions. In the section below, major completion designs are discussed for vertical and horizontal wells.

3.1.1 Well Completion Types for Vertical Wells

i. Open Hole Completion

In this type of completion, the reservoir formations are without the casing and the reservoir fluids directly flow into the production casing which is on top of the formation and fluids go to production facility through wellbore[9]. This type of completions is recommended where the formation lithology is hard enough to withstand the reservoir pressure and it won't fall down into the well bore[9]. Reservoir pressure must also be consistent and have high porosity and permeability for open hole completions. The open hole completion provides large inflow area which ultimately improves the wellbore performance and due to not much use of drilling fluids in the productions zone formations are not damaged badly. Wellbore skin is also recorded minimum in open hole well completions. On the other hand, open hole completions are not recommended to use where formation is loose, and it has sand production issues which can stop the production. Reservoir management is complex task in this completion when uncertain incident happens.





(b) Compound Open Hole Completion



Figure 3.3 Complete Open Hole Completion

ii. Cased Hole Completion

Perforated casing completion has a major use in today's well completion where casing is perforated once it has been set around at the designated zone[9]. Cased hole completion is applied in when the permeability is not much high and hydraulic fracturing job needs to be done in such formation[9]. Also, loose formation issues can be resolved in this completion. Different layers with varying pressure zones are perforated to extract the reservoir fluids and cased hole completion make this activity handle really well. In cased hole completion the zonal isolation is much stable, and it also provides a solution for sand control and water flow into the wellbore[55]. Better reservoir management and well integrity are also the characteristics of this completion. Cased hole completion has not provided much success in highly deviated wells as there is less contact area of bottom hole assembly with

reservoir[55]. Stratum pressure calculation is very sensitive in that completions as during perforation it can cause huge risk to the wellbore integrity[55].



Figure 3.4 Perforated Cased Hole Well Completion

iii. Slotted Liner Completion

It is simple completion to be applied on the reservoir which do not have any sanding issues[9]. Most suitable situation for slotted completion where zonal isolation and stimulation are not preferred[9]. Consistent pressure reservoir can be suitable for this completion type. It is cost efficient well completion technique as the slotted liners are repairable to use again. Use of the cementing mud cause less damage to the oil layers. These completions can also manage the sand production. Oppositely, the slotted liner completion can face sharp pressure drops as it has less area of flow for fluids[56].



Figure 3.5 Slotted Liner Completion

iv. Gravel Pack Completion

In wellbores which are drilled in loose formations and can face serious sand production are recommended to place gravel pack completion[9]. Open hole gravel pack completion is placed where there is no gas cap and bottom water and cased hole completion are suited in opposite situations[9]. It is desirable completion for controlling sanding problems and to prevent the collapse of stratum. It has a huge positive impact in well completion technology to handle some serious issues, but its installation job is very complex and expensive[1].



Figure 3.6 Gravel Pack Completion-Open Hole

3.1.2 Well Completion Types for Horizontal Well

i. Expandable Tubular Completion

Slotted liner and expandable sand control screen pipe are two major components of expandable tubular completion[9]. It reduces the flow resistance because the distance between the liner and formation wall is quite low, so in this way it provides wider area. It is useful completion techniques for deviated wells. Chances of collapse of wellbore walls are low and sand control screen have prolonged life in this completion[57]. There are few challenges in this type of completion as there is always possibility of sticking completion in reservoir, so it poses major issue if it gets stuck in wellbore due its low tensile strength[57].



Figure 3.7 Expandable Tubular Well Completion

ii. External Casing Packer Completion

ECP completions[9] are inserted in different layers to successfully carry out the postdrilling operations and to control the production in these layers. It is not expensive as compared to the cased hole completion and also ECP reduces the inter connection between stratum layers. It is possible to apply the stimulation in different layers separately. However, to isolate the strata is quite challenging job which depends on various factors e.g. wellbore shape. The assurance of this method to isolate strata is always hard to predict precisely.



Figure 3.8 External Casing Pack Completion

iii. Open Hole Completion

In horizontal wells open hole completion provide various advantages as it has expandable packers which are useful if there is a need to isolate the layers and production of fluids can be controlled as required. This completion also benefits in terms of production examination as it includes downhole flowmeters[58]. On the flip side, the selective stimulation is not possible. It is not recommended for weak lithology formations[9].



Figure 3.9 Horizontal Wells Open Hole Completion

iv. Slotted Liner Completion

In horizontal well completions, the slotted liner is comparatively less expensive and damage due to mud is not much intense[9]. It provides support to the wellbore to prevent collapse. Small scale stimulation can be done in this type of completion in horizontal wells[9]. Conversely, it is very hard to control the production and also the production data from downhole is impossible to collect for testing[9].

The gravel pack completion and cased hole completion are also used for horizontal well completion.



Figure 3.10 Horizontal Well Slotted Liner Completion
4 Chapter 4: Development of Fuzzy TOPSIS Prototype for Well Completion Selection

In this section, the mathematical model, and functions of Fuzzy TOPSIS environment are explained. The backbone of Fuzzy TOPSIS software prototype is discussed to better understand the methodology of this system. These mathematical models which runs all the function in the software prototype are working to solve the decision-making problems in industry. Fuzzy TOPSIS environment is then applied to case studies to select the well completion system for a given formation.

4.1 Overview of Fuzzy TOPSIS Chen's Method

The technique for order of preference by similarity to ideal solution (TOPSIS) is used in decision making problems to get better insight of weight of all criterions for a given problem and number of alternatives are ranked based on the expert's judgement. In TOPSIS, it easier to handle the data for computation purposes and it can adjust both qualitative and quantitative analysis in it. To make decision in real-life the crisp data is not accurate enough to give any optimized solution due inaccuracy and missing values in the provided data[59]. In this research the Chen's 2000 method is used for decision making. A classical Fuzzy TOPSIS method which is also knows as Chen's method is a first extension of Fuzzy TOPSIS method proposed in 2000. In this thesis, the linguistic variables are used to avoid those inaccuracies in the data, and linguistic variables assign weight and preference to each criterion and alternative [59]. To solve the decision-making problem in fuzzy environment where we deal with multi-person and multi-criteria the TOPSIS technique will further be developed for that kind of problems. After assigning the linguistic variables to both criteria and alternative and once experts have proposed the fuzzy ratings, the next step is to convert the decision matrix in the fuzzy decision matrix, which will then be a weighted normalized fuzzy matrix. After these initial steps, according to TOPSIS, the fuzzy ideal positive solution (FPIS) and fuzzy ideal negative solution (FNIS) are determined. Vertex technique is applied at this stage to figure out the distance of alternatives from FPIS and FNIS[59]. Closeness coefficient ranks the given set of alternatives for each criterion, and the alternative on top of the ranking indicates it closeness to the fuzzy positive ideal solution [59]. In the next section, the basic mathematical model and notation of fuzzy number are discussed.

4.1.1 Fuzzy Set Definition and Mathematical Equations

Fuzzy set basic mathematical expressions and definitions are shown below[59]:

- a. Membership function $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x)$ denotes the fuzzy set \tilde{A} . X is universe discourse for \tilde{A} . The membership grade of x in \tilde{A} is the function value of $\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x)$.
- b. The expression given below shows the convex nature of fuzzy set \tilde{A} :

$$\mu_{\tilde{A}}(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda) x_2) \ge \operatorname{Min}\left(\mu_{\tilde{A}}(x_1), \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x_2)\right)$$

where $\lambda \in [0, 1]$

c. A fuzzy set \tilde{A} is considered as a normalized when it satisfies this:

$$\exists x_i \in X, \mu_{\tilde{A}}(x_i) = 1$$

d. Fuzzy subset contains the fuzzy number in the universe of discourse X. Normal and convex nature of fuzzy subset is shown below in Fig 4.1:



Figure 4.1 Fuzzy Number [59]

e. The Fig 4.2 below and expression defines the fuzzy numbers α -cut:



Figure 4.2 Alpha cut of Fuzzy number [59]

f. $(n_1n_2n_3)$ as a triplet defines the triangular fuzzy number \tilde{n} . The membership function of triangular fuzzy number is as follow:

$$\mu_{\vec{n}}(x) = \begin{cases} 0, & x < n_1, \\ \frac{x - n_1}{n_2 - n_1}, & n_1 \le x \le n_2 \\ \frac{x - n_3}{n_2 - n_3}, & n_2 \le x \le n_3 \\ 0, & x > n_3. \end{cases}$$

Figure 4.3 Triangular Fuzzy Number [59]

g. Where $n_l^{\alpha} > 0$ and $\alpha \in [0 \ 1]$ the fuzzy number is called as positive fuzzy number. The equations below show the basic operations of positive fuzzy numbers \tilde{m} and \tilde{n} :

$$\begin{split} (\widetilde{m}(+)\widetilde{n})^{\alpha} &= [m_{\ell}^{\alpha} + n_{l}^{\alpha}, m_{u}^{\alpha} + n_{u}^{\alpha}], \\ (\widetilde{m}(-)\widetilde{n})^{\alpha} &= [m_{\ell}^{\alpha} - n_{u}^{\alpha}, m_{u}^{\alpha} - n_{\ell}^{\alpha}], \\ (\widetilde{m}(\cdot)\widetilde{n})^{\alpha} &= [m_{\ell}^{\alpha} \cdot n_{\ell}^{\alpha}, m_{u}^{\alpha} \cdot n_{u}^{\alpha}] \\ (\widetilde{m}(:)\widetilde{n})^{\alpha} &= \left[\frac{m_{l}^{\alpha}}{n_{u}^{\alpha}}, \frac{m_{u}^{\alpha}}{n_{\ell}^{\alpha}}\right], \\ (\widetilde{m}^{\alpha})^{-1} &= \left[\frac{1}{m_{u}^{\alpha}}, \frac{1}{m_{\ell}^{\alpha}}\right], \\ (\widetilde{m}(\cdot)r)^{\alpha} &= [m_{\ell}^{\alpha} \cdot r, m_{u}^{\alpha} \cdot r] \\ (\widetilde{m}(:)r)^{\alpha} &= \left[\frac{m_{\ell}^{\alpha}}{r}, \frac{m_{u}^{\alpha}}{r}\right]. \end{split}$$

- h. When this situation, $n_{\ell}^{\alpha} > 0$, $n_{u}^{\alpha} \le 1$ for $\alpha \in [0,1]$ satisfies, a triangular fuzzy number is a normalized positive triangular fuzzy number.
- i. A fuzzy matrix is indicated by \tilde{D} .

- j. Linguistic variable values are depicted in linguistic terms. In calculation process, the linguistic variables are converted to fuzzy numbers.
- k. In Fuzzy TOPSIS vertex method measures the distance between two triangular fuzzy numbers \tilde{m} and \tilde{n} as defined below:

$$d(\tilde{m},\tilde{n}) = \sqrt{\frac{1}{3}[(m_1 - n_1)^2 + (m_2 - n_2)^2 + (m_3 - n_3)^2]}$$

4.1.2 Fuzzy TOPSIS: Development of Proposed Methodology in Decision Making

In this part, the stepwise approach to build the fuzzy environment from TOPSIS is explained. As we clearly understand that the well completion selection is multi-disciplinary task and it has to handle the opinions of experts from various discipline involving multiple criteria and alternatives to be considered in decision making. Group decision making scenarios are dealt in a very systematic approach under fuzzy environment. The fuzzy environment mathematic and linguistic models are elaborated in this section and it will be the backbone of making decisions for our well completion selection procedure. The Fuzzy TOPSIS software prototype will utilize these models in background to select criteria and alternative for ranking the best possible solution for given problem.

I. Linguistic Variables

In Fuzzy TOPSIS problems linguistic variables are used to minimize the error in human judgments in case of large amount of data as it is hard to come up with exact preferences with exact precision. So numerical values are not a good source of ranking preferences as there is a huge chance of error due to inability of handling huge data sets by experts when making decisions. Pairwise comparison, either directly or indirectly, is one of the techniques to assign the weight to each criterion[60]. In this model, the linguistic variables are used by experts to gauge the importance of all criteria and then assign ratings to each alternative with respect to given set of criterions. The Table 4.1 and 4.2 shows the linguistic variables used in this proposed model:



Figure 4.4 Flow Chart of Fuzzy TOPSIS

Very Low (VL)	(0,0,0.1)
Low (L)	(0,0.1,0.3)
Medium Low (ML)	(0.1,0.3,0.5)
Medium (M)	(0.3,0.5,0.7)
Medium High (MH)	(0.5,0.7,0.9)
High (H)	(0.7,0.9,1)
Very High (VH)	(0.9,1,1)

Table 4.1 Importance weight of criteria by linguistic variables

Table 4.2 Alternative rating by linguistic variable

Very Poor (VP)	(0,0,1)
Poor (P)	(0,1,3)
Medium Poor (MP)	(1,3,5)
Fair (F)	(3,5,7)
Medium Good (MG)	(5,7,9)
Good (G)	(7,9,10)
Very Good (VG)	(9,10,10)

II. Weight and Importance of *K*th Decision Maker

After assigning the linguistic variables to all the criteria and alternatives by decision making group, the number of expert's, which is denoted by K are included to perform the calculation of alternative's rating and criterion importance by following formulas[59]:

$$\widetilde{x}_{ij} = \frac{1}{K} \left[\widetilde{x}_{ij}^1(+) \widetilde{x}_{ij}^2(+) \cdots (+) \widetilde{x}_{ij}^K \right]$$

$$\widetilde{w}_j = \frac{1}{K} \left[\widetilde{w}_j^1(+) \widetilde{w}_j^2(+) \cdots (+) \widetilde{w}_j^K \right]$$
²

III. Decision Matrix \tilde{D}

The decision matrix expressed below shows the matrix of multi-person multi-criteria decision problem:

$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{D}} = \begin{bmatrix} \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{11} & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{11} & \dots & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{11} \\ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{21} & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{22} & \dots & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{2n} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \dots & \vdots \\ \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{m1} & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{m2} & \dots & \widetilde{\boldsymbol{x}}_{mn} \end{bmatrix}, \qquad 3$$
$$\widetilde{\boldsymbol{W}} = [\widetilde{\boldsymbol{w}}_1, \widetilde{\boldsymbol{w}}_2, \dots, \overline{\boldsymbol{w}}_n]$$

By using this decision matrix, it is feasible to express the linguistic variables by numerical values or more specifically in terms of triangular fuzzy number. \tilde{x}_{ij} and \tilde{w}_j are linguistic variables[59].

IV. Normalized Fuzzy Decision Matrix \tilde{R}

In the fuzzy environment, it is recommended to perform linear scale transformation rather than complicated normalization process which is usually performed in the classical TOPSIS[59]. We obtain the normalized fuzzy decision matrix by linear scale transformation which helps to generate comparable scale for criterion scale[59]. The following is the formula for normalized decision matrix \tilde{R} :

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{R}} = \left[\widetilde{\mathbf{r}}_{ij}\right]_{m \times n} \tag{4}$$

$$\tilde{r}_{ij} = \left(\frac{a_{ij}}{c_j^*}, \frac{b_{ij}}{c_j^*}, \frac{c_{ij}}{c_j^*}\right), j \in B;$$

$$\tilde{r}_{ij} = \left(\frac{a_j^-}{c_{ij}}, \frac{a_j^-}{b_{ij}}, \frac{a_j^-}{a_{ij}}\right), j \in C;$$

$$c_j^* = \max_i c_{ij} \text{ if } j \in B;$$

$$a_j^- = \min_i a_{ij} \text{ if } j \in C.$$

B and C represents the benefit and cost criteria sets.

V. Weighted Normalized Fuzzy Decision Matrix

As the importance of each criteria has different weightage based on the experts' input, so it's an important to build up the weighted matrix for all criterions form normalized fuzzy matrix. The Equation 5 shows the weighted normalized fuzzy decision matrix:

$$\widetilde{V} = \left[\widetilde{v}_{ij}\right]_{m \times n} i = 1, 2, ..., m, j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
where $\widetilde{v}_{ij} = \widetilde{r}_{ij}(\cdot)\widetilde{w}_j$
5

VI. Fuzzy Positive Ideal Solution A^{*} and Fuzzy Negative Ideal Solution A⁻

We know that \tilde{v}_{ij} , $\forall i$, and *j* are normalized positive triangular fuzzy numbers as stated by weighted normalized fuzzy decision matrix, and the interval [0, 1] is the range of normalized positive triangular fuzzy number[59]. So now we can define the FPIS and FNIS to proceed further in the calculation process by following expressions:

$$A^* = (\tilde{v}_1^*, \tilde{v}_2^*, \dots, \tilde{v}_n^*)$$
$$A^- = (\tilde{v}_1^-, \tilde{v}_2^-, \dots, \tilde{v}_n^-)$$

Where $\tilde{v}_j^* = (1,1,1)$ and $\tilde{v}_j^- = (0,0,0), j=1,2, n$.

VII. Distance Calculation

The next step after determining the FPIS and FNIS, the distance of all the alternatives, presented to solve the given decision-making problem, is computed as below[59]:

$$d_i^* = \sum_{j=1}^n d(\widetilde{v}_{ij}, \widetilde{v}_j^*), i = 1, 2, \dots, m$$

$$d_i^- = \sum_{j=1}^n d(\widetilde{v}_{ij}, \widetilde{v}_j^-), i = 1, 2, \dots, m$$
⁷

Fuzzy numbers' distance is showed by these expressions. The closer is the alternative to the positive ideal solution, the lesser the distance it will have, and it is more distance for alternatives with which are not/less suitable to apply to solve a given problems.

VIII. Closeness Coefficient

Once we have performed the distance calculations of all the alternatives A_i *i* =1,2,3, the next step is to determine the closeness coefficient of each alternative, so it is easier for decision makers to evaluate the ranking of alternative and choose the best alternative[59]. The closeness coefficient actually creates a ranking order for the alternative A_i .

$$CC_i = \frac{d_i^-}{d_i^* + d_i^-}, i = 1, 2, ..., m$$
 8

As CC_i value is closer to 1, it indicates that the alternative A_i is nearest to the fuzzy positive ideal solution. The most appropriate alternative is then available in final ranking order system after evaluation with each criterion.

4.1.3 Synopsis of Fuzzy TOPSIS Algorithm

The step by step procedure to follow the Fuzzy TOPSIS algorithm to solve the decision-making problems with fuzzy set involving multi-criteria and multi-expert is summarized below:

- 1st. Structure an advisory group of decision-makers, at that point recognize the assessment criteria.
- 2nd. Pick up proper linguistic variables and linguistic listings for the importance weight of criteria as well as for alternatives regarding each criterion.

- 3rd. The collected fuzzy weight \tilde{w}_j for each criterion C_j is calculated by aggregating the criterion weight, and the aggregated fuzzy ratings \tilde{x}_{ij} of all the alternatives A_i under each criterion in a given problem is determined by combining the expert's decisions.
- 4th. In the fourth step we develop the fuzzy decision matrix and after that it is normalized to construct a normalized fuzzy decision matrix.
- 5th. In this step the previously constructed matrix is converted to weighted normalized fuzzy decision matrix.
- 6th. Calculation of fuzzy positive ideal solution and fuzzy negative ideal solution is performed in this step.
- 7th. Given alternatives distance from FPIS and FNIS is calculated.
- 8th. Once the distance is determined, we proceed with to find the closeness coefficient.
- 9th. Ranking order is calculated for all alternatives on the authority of closeness coefficient.

4.2 Fuzzy TOPSIS Algorithm Numerical Example

In this section, a sample of decision-making problem will be discussed to perform the Fuzzy TOPSIS software to understand the its workflow. The use of Fuzzy TOPSIS software will be elaborated with all the steps involved in it. The purpose of this software prototype is to make the complex calculation procedure simple and steady, and mostly it requires simple inputs to solve the given problem. This software prototype is able to select the optimized well completion models for any specific formation. In the next chapter, the real-time case studies to select the optimum well completion will be dealt by using the Fuzzy TOPSIS software, but in this section only sample example is used to explain it.

Assume that oil and gas operator company hire a team of experts from various disciplines to select the suitable well completion design to install in the wellbore. Let suppose we have three alternatives of well completions A_1 , A_2 , and A_3 for ranking and then select the one based on ranking and criteria weight. The decision-making team has three experts, D_1 , D_2 , D_3 to weight and rate each criterion and alternative. The decision-making team has defined three criteria C_1 , C_2 , and C_3 to evaluate the given alternative options for well completion selection.

Suppose the three criteria are:

- i. Production (C_1)
- ii. Cost (C_2)
- iii. HSE

The above given criteria are used as an example to select the appropriate alternative and it is not real-life example. Although for actual problems it follows the same rule to develop the decision-making process for evaluation purposes.

In the Fuzzy TOPSIS software, it has an option to select either the criteria are positive (beneficial) or negative (disadvantageous). In input values, we assign +1 for positive criteria and -1 for negative criteria. In our defined criteria, it is supposed that production of wellbore and HSE are positive criteria, and the cost of well completion activities is assumed as negative criteria. So, until now we have defined the alternatives, number of experts, type and number of criteria.

Step 1: In the first step, the experts will weigh the importance of each criteria. For the importance weight of each criteria the decision maker will use the linguistic variable Table 4.1.

	<i>D</i> ₁	<i>D</i> ₂	D ₃	
<i>C</i> ₁	VH H		VH	
<i>C</i> ₂	ML	L	М	
<i>C</i> ₃	Н	VH	МН	

Table 4.3 The importance weight of criteria by experts

In the Table 4.3, the experts have given their input to weight each criterion by using the linguistic variables which makes it less tedious task for the team of experts in their domain to do that task. In the Fuzzy TOPSIS software the following inputs are given.

Table 4.4 Insert the number of experts in Fuzzy TOPSIS Software

Experts	3

Table 4.5 Insert the number of criteria

Criteria	3

Table 4.5 Insert the number of alternatives

Alternative	3

Table 4.6 Type of criteria

	Positive	Negative		
Criteria type	+1	-1		

Step 2: So, until now it is pretty simple inputs to insert in the Fuzzy TOPSIS program. Next, in Table 4.7, the criteria weight is inserted based on the linguistic variables assigned to the three criteria by experts in Table 4.3.

Table 4.7 Assigning weight to each criterion

Criteria	Туре	Weight	
		0.83	
<i>C</i> ₁	+1	0.96	
		1	

Criteria	Туре	Weight
		0.13

<i>C</i> ₂	-1	0.3
		0.5

Criteria	Туре	Weight
		0.7
<i>C</i> ₂	+1	0.86
		0.96

In Table 4.7, the criteria weight, and the type of each criteria have been set up in the programs.

Step 2: So far, we have established the all the important inputs in the Fuzzy TOPSIS program, and now the further step is very simple but after its various complex calculation are initiated in the system to obtain the fuzzy decision matrix, normalized and weighted normalized fuzzy decision matrix. They are so simple, as it is shown in Table 4.8, where we assign the number of experts to each alternative by using the linguistic variables to get the alternative ranking. All the alternative ratings (A_1, A_2, A_3) under the given criteria C_1, C_2 , and C_3 are presented below:

			<i>C</i> ₁				
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
<i>A</i> ₁				1	1	1	
A ₂				1	2		
<i>A</i> ₃						2	1

Table 4.8 Alternative showing number of experts in their favor w.r.t to linguistic variables

	<i>C</i> ₂						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
<i>A</i> ₁				1	2	1	
A ₂				2		1	
A ₃			1	1	1		

	<i>C</i> ₃						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
<i>A</i> ₁			1		1	1	
A ₂				1	1		1
<i>A</i> ₃					1	2	

All the numerical values given to the alternatives under each criterion show the number of experts and the linguistic variables column shows how many experts are how much in favor of any individual alternative. For example, for the criteria C_1 two experts say that the alternative A_3 is good (G) and one expert say it is very good (VG) option.

Step 3: Equation 3, equation 4, and equation 5 have been set up in the Fuzzy TOPSIS program to calculate integrated, normalized, and weighted fuzzy decision matrix. After the step 2, the program will get the data from the previous steps to perform its function.

Step 4: In this stage, the software defines the FPSI and FNIS for all the criterion, which is a primary step to go to the next step where the program calculates the distance of each alternative.

Table 4.9 Defining FPIS and FNIS inputs for criteria

		C ₁	
A*	1	1	1
A ⁻	0	0	0

		<i>C</i> ₂	
A*	1	1	1
A ⁻	0	0	0

	C_3					
A^*	1	1	1			
A ⁻	0	0	0			

Step 5: Now the program starts off to calculate the distance of each alternative, for all criterion, from A^* and A^- using the equation 6 and equation 7. The following table 4.10 shows the calculations performed in the program.

Table 4.10 Distance calculation of alternatives from FPIS and FNIS

	<i>C</i> ₁	<i>C</i> ₂	<i>C</i> ₃	d_i^*
A ₁	0.395	0.831	0.484	1.710
A ₂	0.444	0.830	0.430	1.677
A ₃	0.218	0.778	0.347	1.343

	<i>C</i> ₁	<i>C</i> ₂	<i>C</i> ₃	d_i^-
A ₁	0.677	0.218	0.591	1.485
A ₂	0.631	0.218	0.667	1.515
A ₃	0.858	0.308	0.749	1.915

Finally, this step has completed the distance calculation of all alternative. Here, the vertex method calculated the distance between two fuzzy numbers. The alternative which is nearest to the FPIS or have more positive distance can be considered as the suitable alternative to choose among the given options.

Step 6: In the last step, the program uses the algorithm to perform the closeness coefficient calculations, according to Equation 8, to finally give the ranking order of all the alternative so it becomes easier for decision-makers to analyze the final output and choose the best alternative under the given criterion.

		Ranking of Alternative		
<i>A</i> ₁	0.46		3	
<i>A</i> ₂	0.47		2	
<i>A</i> ₃	0.58		1	

The Table 4.11 show that the alternative A_3 is the best well completion method to select after considering the production, cost and HSE criteria, and taking account of the experts' opinion. As it was explained earlier this is not a real-life problem, it is only demonstrated here to show the stepwise working mechanism of the Fuzzy TOPSIS program.

5 Chapter 5: Case Study for Well Completion Model Selection for Iris Production Well by Fuzzy TOPSIS Algorithm

In this case study[61], the Fuzzy TOPSIS system is implemented on the Iris production well. It is a real-time example to use the decision-making process for optimized selection of well completion design. Iris field is situated on the North Continental Shelf and to the west of Morvin Field. Iris reservoir is found around 225m under the Hades reservoir. Iris reservoir properties evaluation indicates that it belongs to Garn Formation of Middle Jurassic age. Iris appraisal well 6506/11-11S was drilled in 2019 to investigate the potential of Iris reservoir and to get in-depth knowledge and properties of its depositional model. Reservoir characteristics, conditions, and the Iris Appraisal well design will be considered for assessment for the Iris production well design. Morvin Field is HPHT field and has some similarities to Iris field, for example same temperature and pressure, 162 degree C and 819 bar, as Iris field, so Morvin field can be considered as reference during the selection procedure of completion design for Iris production well.



Figure 5.1 Iris Field Well Location and Well Trajectory[61]

5.1 Criteria Selection for the Iris Production Well

The experts involved during the well completion selection process for decision-making have to consider and drive the criteria which have more values for various objectives to achieve. The value of the chosen criterion may vary depending upon the involvement of operations for certain field. Based on this the criterion are given weight and prioritized by expert knowledge. HS&E is an utmost important criterion for well completion team as the environmental management, safety and health of technical crew can never be compromised. Both operator and service companies recommend their safety procedures, tool/equipment selection, and consequences of environmental challenges in the long run, and their endorsement need to take very seriously and prioritized. Well objective is another value-driven criterion during well completion method. Well objective criteria also assess the operational safety in case of performance variation of the well. The next consideration for the criteria is time and cost which is important factor for companies in economic point of view. Time and cost criteria assist to evaluate the cost estimation of various well completion activities, well intervention and equipment selection for HPHT wells. So, HS&E, well objective, and time and cost are the three criterion we will consider for completion selection.

• HS&E

- Well integrity should always be maintained. Potential risk to the well integrity includes corrosion of the downhole equipment, leak of gas, weak zonal isolation, and pressure buildup in annular.
- Detrimental impact to the environment and human safety can't be trad-off.
- Well performance must be taken into consideration while making HS&E regulation.
- HS&E standards should be of high value in well completion design.

• Well Objectives

- Recovery of hydrocarbons from reservoir should be improved.
- High focus on well integrity.

- Compatible design for well intervention activities.
- Well objective must include the plug and abandonment activities.
- Design needs to get optimized production.
- Meet the complex conditions for HPHT wells.

• Time and Cost

- Rig-time for various operational activities is a major factor to manage the economic value of the field.
- All activities should be planned properly to save time and cost.
- Optimization of various completion equipment and the rig-rate is a strategy for cost-effective well coemption activities.

The following Table 5.1 shows the importance weight of each criteria for Iris production well, the criteria to each weight is given by the team of decision-making experts.



Figure 5.2 Flow chart for criteria and alternative for Iris Production Field

Criteria	Symbol	Туре	Linguistic Variable / Importance	Weight
HS&E	<i>C</i> ₁	+1	Very High (VH)	(0.9,1,1)
Well Objective	<i>C</i> ₂	+1	High (H)	(0.7,0.9,1)
Time & Cost	<i>C</i> ₃	-1	Medium High (MH)	(0.5,0.7,0.9)

So, the setup to perform the Fuzzy TOPSIS program for optimized well completion selection for the Iris production well have been initiated. The three criterions C_1 , C_2 , C_3 have been chosen and a team of four decision-experts D_1 , D_2 , D_3 , D_4 have given the weight to each criterion shown in the Table 5.1.

For the optimized well completion method selection for Iris production field, it is decided to consider the lower completion, middle completion, and upper completion separately under the given criterion. In this Fuzzy TOPSIS software, the alternative ranking order will be assessed for lower, middle, and upper completions. The ranking order of alternative will be determined separately for all three completions. We will consider the relevant alternatives for lower, middle, and upper well completions.

The alternative for each completion is given below:

Lower Completion:

- Open hole pre-drilled liner A_1
- Cased hole perforated liner A_2

Factors to be considered for lower completion selection:

Perforation quality

- ➢ Well instability
- ➢ Formation damage
- ➢ Tool malfunction
- Zonal isolation

Middle Completion:

- Annular packer with Internal plug A_1
- Annular packer with downhole isolation value A_2
- Integrated lower completion barrier assembly (ILCBA) A₃

Factors to be considered for middle completion selection:

- ➢ Failure to access internal plug and valve
- Surge and Swab effect
- ➢ ID restrictions

Upper Completion:

- 1. Casing
 - 5 1/2-inch tubing A_1
 - 7-inch tubing A_2
- 2. Packer
 - Permanent packer A_1
 - Retrievable packer A_2

Factors to be considered for upper completion:

- ➢ Historical reliability
- Subsea equipment restriction
- ➢ ID clearance

- > Packer reliability in HPHT
- Historical fact to use packer in NCS

5.1.1 Lower Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS

As there are two major completions, open hole pre-drilled and cased hole perforated liner to choose for Iris production well. These two alternatives will be assessed under three criteria HS&E, well objective, time & cost. In this method, each factor will be considered for rating of alternative and based on the ranking order the software will decide the one alternative either open hole pre-drilled liner or cased hole perforated liner.

	$HS\&E(C_1)$							
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG	
Open hole pre-drilled liner (A_1)	-	-	-	-	1	1	2	
Cased hole perforated liner (A_2)	-	-	-	-	2	2	-	

Table 5.2 Rating of alternative for lower completion by experts

		Well Objective (C_2)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Open hole pre-drilled liner (A_1)	-	-	-	-	-	2	2

Cased hole	-	-	-	1	2	1	-
perforated							
liner (A_2)							

		Time & Cost (C_3)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Open hole pre-drilled liner (A_1)	-	-	-	1	2	1	-
Cased hole perforated liner (A_2)	-	-	2	1	1	-	-

Table 5.3 Ranking Order of alternatives for lower completion

		Ranking of Alt	ernative
<i>A</i> ₁	0.63		1
A ₂	0.60		2

In terms of time & cost criteria open-hole pre-drilled liner consumes less time and are more costeffective as it is obvious the well completion teams have to perform more operation for cased hole liner e.g. to insert the liner, run cement, test the cement bond etc. One important factor to consider is that the loss of drilling fluids into reservoirs cause the filtrate formation in open-hole pre-drilled liner which not the case for cased hole perforated liner. The chances of malfunction of release tool in the wellbore, and minimum gun shocks (for perforation) keeps the wellbore stability and it provides decision-makers more reliability to select the open-hole pre-drilled liner.

5.1.2 Middle Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS

For middle completion selection, three alternatives will be considered for further evaluation under each criterion and all factors will be taken into account by experts while rating the alternatives. ILCBA, annular packer with plug, and annular packer with isolation valve are three alternatives for middle completion. Middle completion is run into the well as part of the lower completion. As mentioned earlier, the failure to reach to the internal plug, swab/surge affect, and ID restrictions are some of the important factors to be considered for experts while rating the alternatives.

In Table 5.4, the Fuzzy TOPSIS is implemented on the three alternatives for middle completion selection. The experts will give their input using the linguistic variables presented in the Table 4.2 for alternative ratings.

		HS&E (C_1)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Annular Packer with internal valve (A ₁)	-	-	-	-	1	3	-
Annular Packer with DIS (A_2)	-	-	-	1	1	2	-
ILCBA (A_3)	-	-	-	-	-	1	3

Table 5.4 Rating	of alternatives	for middle completion
------------------	-----------------	-----------------------

		Well Objective (C_2)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Annular Packer with	-	-	-	1	1	2	-

internal valve (A_1)							
Annular Packer with DIS (A ₂)	-	-	-	1	2	1	-
ILCBA (A_3)	-	-	-	1	-	1	2

		Time & Cost (C_3)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Annular Packer with internal valve (A ₁)	-	_	-	-	2	2	-
Annular Packer with DIS (A ₂)	-	-	-	1	2	1	-
ILCBA (A_3)	-	-	-	-	1	1	2

Table 5.5 Ranking order of alternatives

		Ranking of Alt	ernative
A ₁	0.63		2
A ₂	0.62		3
A ₃	0.67		1

Above Table 5.5 manifest the selection of ILCBA for middle completion solution based on the decision-maker opinion. Although the annular packer middle completions are more reliable, but

they can be time consuming and with more probability to face well stability issues as compared to ILCBA. While ILCBA comes up with a solution to eliminate the need for middle completion separately as it runs as part of the lower completion with more advantage in favor of well integrity and also reduced the risk of swab/surge in wellbore.

5.1.3 Upper Completion Selection Using Fuzzy TOPSIS

The selection of upper completion involves the two alternatives for tubing selection, 5-inch tubing and 7-inch tubing, and the permanent and retrievable packer are the other two alternatives to select for packer selection. The Fuzzy TOPSIS will be implemented on these two types of alternative, tubing and packer, separately to obtain the ranking of alternative. Table 5.6 is presented to select the tubing alternative. Table 5.7 shows the final ranking of the given alternatives.

		$HS\&E(C_1)$					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
5-inch tubing (A_1)	-	-	-	-	-	2	2
7-inch tubing (A_2)	-	-	-	1	2	1	-

Table 5.6 Ratings of	f tubing alternative	for upper completion
----------------------	----------------------	----------------------

	Well Objective (C_2)						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
5-inch tubing (A_1)	-	-	-	-	-	1	3
7-inch tubing (A_2)	-	-	-	2	2	-	-

	Time & Cost (C_3)						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
5-inch tubing (A_1)	-	-	-	-	-	2	2
7-inch tubing (A_2)	-	-	-	1	-	2	1

Table 5.7 Ranking order of alternatives

		Ranking of Alt	ernative
A ₁	0.71		1
A ₂	0.58		2

The 5-inch tubing has attained more attention of the decision-makers as 5-inch tubing has provided successful completion activities on NCS for subsea wells. Historically, it has been noted that 7-inch tubing can cause hurdle in operations on subsea platform. For example, the restriction of tools when running the equipment into the wellbore. While on the other hand the 5-inch tubing is knows for causing less problems and disturbance to equipment. When experts compare the ID clearance for both 5-inch and 7-inch tubing, it comes into the notice that 5-inch tubing provides more ID clearance which is very important in terms of running the control lines, pressure and temperature gauges into the wellbore. Based on these factors' experts have given more importance to the 5-inch tubing for the upper completion of Iris production well.

Among the given options for permanent and retrievable packers, the former is field proven on NCS, less complex and easy to install and provides more resilience during field operations. The experts believe that permanent packer has a history to be used on the NCS and mostly the upper completions have been completed with permanent packer. In the Table 5.8, we will assess the comparison of these two types of packer to finally decide which one is better for upper completion model.

	$HS\&E(\mathcal{C}_1)$						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Permanent packer (A_1)	-	-	-	-	-	1	3
Retrievable packer (A_2)	-	-	-	-	1	3	-

Table 5.8 Rating of packer alternatives for upper completion

	Well Objective (C_2)						
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Permanent packer (A_1)	-	-	-	-	2	2	-
Retrievable packer (A_2)	-	-	-	-	2	2	-

		Time & Cost (C_3)					
	VP	Р	MP	F	MG	G	VG
Permanent packer (A_1)					1	3	
Retrievable packer (A_2)					1	3	

Table 5.9 Ranking order of alternative

		Ranking of Alto	ernative
A ₁	0.70		1

A ₂	0.67	2

The above Table 5.9 indicates that the permanent packer is the more robust solution for Iris production field. Although it is completely feasible to utilize both permanent and retrievable packers in fields with HPHT conditions.

Final Well Completion Design Proposal for Iris Production Well				
Open hole pre-drilled liner	Lower Completion			
ILCBA	Middle Completion			
5-inch tubing				
Permanent packer	Upper Completion			

The GitHub code for the Fuzzy TOPSIS prototype can accessed from this link: <u>https://github.com/bysarmad/fuzzytopsissoftware/tree/main</u>.

5.2 Sensitivity Analysis

By applying the sensitivity analysis on the well completion design for Iris production well different kind of conditions can be assessed and compared to the original scenario. The quality of a given problem relies on the knowledge and understanding of the mathematical model. Various kind of uncertainties can be related to this model. As the sensitivity analysis is applied on the Fuzzy TOPSIS model, it makes it possible to analyze the variations in output variables which are affected by the uncertainties of input variables. In Fuzzy TOPSIS, the sensitivity analysis can be applied to create different kind of scenarios to examine the alternative ratings (output variable), and these alternative ratings are sensitive enough to get altered by changing any input variable. The input variable in Fuzzy TOPSIS can be the decision maker (DM), criteria weighting, number of alternatives etc.



Figure 5.3 Sensitivity analysis of a case study

In Figure 5.3, the comparison of different scenario is shows as compared to the original case. In scenario 1 it is showing that the lower completion preference has been shifted to cased hole perforated liner while in original case it is open hole pre-drilled liner. In fuzzy TOPSIS software some of the inputs are changed to observe the change in final ranking of the alternatives. For scenario 1, the criteria weight has been altered and more decision makers are in favor of cased hole completion for well objective criteria. In the final ranking we get the 0.62 value for cased hole completion as compared to 0.57 value for open hole pre-drilled liner. In case of scenario 2, the middle completion has more ratings for annular packer with internal valve, 0.67 value, as compared to ILCBA, 0.65 value, and annular packer with downhole insulation valve, 0.61 value. The input parameters changed in scenario 2 are the number of decision makers for HS&E criteria for given alternatives. In scenario 3, it is observed that the ranking order for upper completion

alternatives, permanent packer and retrievable, has not changed much though it suggests both options are reasonable to use as the difference in rating value is very small for both permanent and retrievable packer.

Sensitivity analysis necessitates that all variables, either dependent or independent, be evaluated in a definite way. It assists with deciding the relationship between the factors. Also, sensitivity analysis works with more precise determining.

5.3 Discussion and Summary

In this thesis a comprehensive model of fuzzy TOPSIS is developed including user friendly interface to select the optimum well completion model for reservoirs. The fuzzy TOPSIS model accuracy depends mainly on the expert knowledge and experience for their relevant fields. It then finally combines the experts input for the given criterions and alternatives to generate the optimum solution for well completion method. In numerical index methods for well completion selection there is a lack or no input from the experts for overall selection process, so fuzzy TOPSIS fills out this gap by providing the experts instruction during modelling the well completion models. In most of the previous applications of MCDM the weights were crisp deterministic numbers which can cause huge errors in decision making problems as it's challenging for humans to manually handle the large set of data. So, to overcome this problem, this thesis applies the fuzzy approach to deal with problems involving uncertain conditions. This fuzzy TOPSIS model can be modified and adjusted to select well completions for various reservoirs and company needs. The companies can adjust the weight of each criteria depending on their needs and goals. Moreover, this decisionmaking system is suitable for oil companies as it has a flexibility of any changes whether they are related to any experts' requirements or data sets. In fuzzy TOPSIS it is also possible to apply it for selecting equipment for well completion by setting the criteria and involving the alternatives (desired equipment) to obtain final ratings of the equipment. To get the better and accurate results for the decision-making problems it is recommended to integrate the various MCDM methods to observe the final results as every method comes with its own specialty.

Bibliography

Uncategorized References

- 1. Bellarby, J., *Well Completion Design*. 2009, Oxford, NETHERLANDS, THE: Elsevier Science & Technology.
- 2. Khosravanian, R. and D.A. Wood, Selection of high-rate gas well completion designs applying multi-criteria decision making and hierarchy methods. Journal of Natural Gas Science and Engineering, 2016. 34: p. 1004-1016.
- 3. Ramachandran, S.D.P.a.M., *Application of multi-criteria decision making to sustainable energy planning A review.* Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 2004. 8: p. 361-381.
- 4. Joshi, S.D., *Horizontal Well Technology*. 1991: PennWell Publishing Company.
- 5. Godwin, K., B. Gadiyar, and H. Riordan. Simultaneous Gravel Packing and Filtercake Cleanup with Shunt Tubes in Open-Hole Completions: A Case History from the Gulf of Mexico. in SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. 2001.
- 6. Jones, L.G., et al. *Gravel Packing Horizontal Wellbores with Leak-Off Using Shunts*. in SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. 1997.
- 7. Perdue, J.M.J.P.E.I., Completion experts study Gulf of Mexico horizontal screen failures. 1996. 69(6).
- 8. Jackson, V.B. and T.R. Tips. Case Study: First Intelligent Completion System Installed in the Gulf of Mexico. in SPE Offshore Europe Oil and Gas Exhibition and Conference. 2001.
- 9. Zhang, Y., A feature-based well completion optimization system applying fuzzy MCDM. 2018.
- 10. Stair, C.D., et al. *Na Kika Completions Overview: Challenges and Accomplishments*. in *Offshore Technology Conference*. 2004.
- 11. Ajayi, A.A., M.R. Konopczynski, and C. Giuliani. Defining and Implementing Functional Requirements of an Intelligent-Well Completion System. in Latin American & Caribbean Petroleum Engineering Conference. 2007.
- 12. Zhang, G., J. Lu, and Y. Gao, *Multi-level decision making*. Models, Methods and Applications, 2015.
- 13. Simon, H.A., et al., *Decision Making and Problem Solving*. Interfaces, 1987. 17(5): p. 11-31.
- 14. Daim, T., T. Oliver, and J. Kim, *Research and Technology Management in the Electricity Industry*. Springer London. doi, 2013. 10: p. 978-1.
- 15. Xu, J. and Z. Tao, Rough multiple objective decision making. 2011: cRc Press.
- 16. Clímaco, J., Multicriteria Analysis: Proceedings of the XIth International Conference on MCDM, 1–6 August 1994, Coimbra, Portugal. 2012: Springer Science & Business Media.
- 17. Guerraggio, A., E. Molho, and A. Zaffaroni, *On the notion of proper efficiency in vector optimization*. Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications, 1994. 82(1): p. 1-21.

- Charnes, A. and W.W. Cooper, Goal programming and multiple objective optimizations: Part 1. European Journal of Operational Research, 1977. 1(1): p. 39-54.
- **19.** Gandibleux, X., *Multiple criteria optimization: state of the art annotated bibliographic surveys.* 2006.
- 20. Diakaki, C., et al., A multi-objective decision model for the improvement of energy efficiency in buildings. 2010. 35(12): p. 5483-5496.
- 21. Schramm, F. and D.C. Morais, *Decision support model for selecting and evaluating suppliers in the construction industry %J Pesquisa Operacional.* 2012. 32: p. 643-662.
- 22. Zardari, N.H., et al., Weighting methods and their effects on multi-criteria decision making model outcomes in water resources management. 2015: Springer.
- 23. Qaradaghi, M. and J.P. Deason, *Analysis of MCDM methods output coherence in oil and gas portfolio prioritization*. Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology, 2018. 8(2): p. 617-640.
- 24. Agrell, P.J., *A multicriteria framework for inventory control*. International Journal of Production Economics, 1995. 41(1): p. 59-70.
- 25. Yoon, K.P. and C.-L. Hwang, *Multiple attribute decision making: an introduction*. 1995: Sage publications.
- 26. Assari, A., et al., *Role of public participation in sustainability of historical city: usage of TOPSIS method.* 2012. 5(3): p. 2289-2294.
- 27. Shih, H.-S., H.-J. Shyur, and E.S. Lee, *An extension of TOPSIS for group decision making*. Mathematical and Computer Modelling, 2007. 45(7): p. 801-813.
- 28. Rogers, M.G., M. Bruen, and L.-Y. Maystre, *Electre and decision support: methods and applications in engineering and infrastructure investment*. 2013: Springer Science & Business Media.
- 29. Figueira, J.R., S. Greco, and B. Roy, *ELECTRE methods with interaction between criteria: An extension of the concordance index.* European Journal of Operational Research, 2009. 199(2): p. 478-495.
- 30. Liao, H. and Z. Xu, *Hesitant fuzzy decision making methodologies and applications*. 2017: Springer.
- 31. Amine, M.E., J. Pailhes, and N. Perry, *Critical Review of Multi-criteria Decision Aid Methods in Conceptual Design Phases: Application to the Development of a Solar Collector Structure.* Procedia CIRP, 2014. 21: p. 497-502.
- 32. Charnes, A. and W.W. Cooper, *Management Models and Industrial Applications of Linear Programming*. Management Science, 1957. 4(1): p. 38-91.
- 33. Shannon, C.E., *A mathematical theory of communication*. The Bell System Technical Journal, 1948. 27(4): p. 623-656.
- 34. Zou, Z.-h., Y. Yun, and J.-n. Sun, *Entropy method for determination of weight of evaluating indicators in fuzzy synthetic evaluation for water quality assessment.* Journal of Environmental Sciences, 2006. 18(5): p. 1020-1023.
- 35. Singh, V.P., *The entropy theory as a tool for modeling and decision-making in environmental and water resources.* 2000.
- 36. Srdjevic, B., Y. Medeiros, and A.J.W.r.m. Faria, *An objective multi-criteria* evaluation of water management scenarios. 2004. 18(1): p. 35-54.
- 37. Dodgson, J.S., et al., *Multi-criteria analysis: a manual.* 2009.

- 38. Saaty, T.L., *How to make a decision: The analytic hierarchy process*. European Journal of Operational Research, 1990. 48(1): p. 9-26.
- **39.** Subramanian, N. and R.J.I.J.o.P.E. Ramanathan, A review of applications of Analytic Hierarchy Process in operations management. 2012. 138(2): p. 215-241.
- 40. Majumder, M., Application of Geographical Information Systems and Soft Computation Techniques in Water and Water Based Renewable Energy Problems. 2017: Springer.
- 41. Zahir, S.J.C.J.o.A.S.R.C.d.S.d.I.A., Synthesizing Intensities of Group Preferences in Public Policy Decisions Using the AHP: Is It Time for the "New Democracy"? 1999. 16(4): p. 353-366.
- 42. Zanakis, S.H., et al., *Multi-attribute decision making: A simulation comparison of select methods*. European Journal of Operational Research, 1998. 107(3): p. 507-529.
- 43. Turcksin, L., A. Bernardini, and C. Macharis, *A combined AHP-PROMETHEE* approach for selecting the most appropriate policy scenario to stimulate a clean vehicle fleet. Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2011. 20: p. 954-965.
- 44. Behzadian, M., et al., *PROMETHEE: A comprehensive literature review on methodologies and applications*. 2010. 200(1): p. 198-215.
- 45. Julong, D.J.T.J.o.g.s., Introduction to grey system theory. 1989. 1(1): p. 1-24.
- 46. Chan, J.W., T.K.J.M. Tong, and Design, *Multi-criteria material selections and end-of-life product strategy: Grey relational analysis approach.* 2007. 28(5): p. 1539-1546.
- 47. Johnston, J., et al. A multi-disciplinary approach to developing a highly faulted, densely fractured, low permeability carbonate reservoir, offshore Qatar. in 19th World Petroleum Congress. 2008. World Petroleum Congress.
- 48. Jia, J., et al., A case study on the effective stimulation techniques practiced in the superposed gas reservoirs of coal-bearing series with multiple thin coal seams in Guizhou, China. 2016. 146: p. 489-504.
- 49. Idiodemise, E. and A. Dosunmu. A Model for Completion Selection for Multilateral and Multibranched Wells. in Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition. 2007. Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 50. Ouyang, L.-B., W. Huang, and R. Dickerson. *Efficient cost saving through an* appropriate completion design. in SPE Western Regional/AAPG Pacific Section/GSA Cordilleran Section Joint Meeting. 2006. Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 51. Sinha, S., M. Yan, and Y. Jalali. Completion architecture: a methodology for integrated well planning. in SPE/IADC Middle East Drilling Technology Conference and Exhibition. 2003. Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 52. Morooka, C. and G. Castro. A Methodology for the Selection of an Alternative for a Floating Production System. in International Conference on Offshore Mechanics and Arctic Engineering. 2002.
- 53. Rehman, A., et al. A generic model for optimizing the selection of artifical lift methods for liquid loaded gas wells. in SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. 2011. Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 54. Yang, G., et al. Selection of Coal-Bed Methane Well Completion Method Based on Grey System Theory. in Applied Mechanics and Materials. 2013. Trans Tech Publ.
- 55. Byrom, T.G., *Casing and liners for drilling and completion: design and application*. 2014: Elsevier.
- 56. Penberthy, W. and C. Shaughnessy, *Sand control*. 1992: Henry L. Doherty Memorial Fund of AIME, Society of Petroleum Engineers.
- 57. Dupal, K.J.D.O.T., Well design with expandable tubulars reduces costs and increases success in deepwater applications. 2000.
- 58. Renpu, W., *Advanced Well Completion Engineering [e-book]*. 2011, Oxford: Elsevier Gulf Professional Publishing. Available at:< <u>https://books</u>
- 59. Chen, C.-T., *Extensions of the TOPSIS for group decision-making under fuzzy environment.* Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 2000. 114(1): p. 1-9.
- 60. Hsu, H. and C.J.J.o.t.C.I.o.I.E. Chen, *Fuzzy hierarchical weight analysis model for multicriteria decision problem.* 1994. 11(3): p. 126-136.
- 61. Økland, A., A Comprehensive Completion Method Selection Based on Probability and Impact Matrix for Iris Production HPHT Well. 2020, University of Stavanger, Norway.